IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		Case No. SC06-290
Complainant,		
v.		The Florida Bar File No. 2004-50, 937(17J)
DAVID SAMUEL NICNICK		
Respondent.	,	

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT6
ARGUMENT
I. A LAWYER DOES NOT VIOLATE THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR BY WAITING TO SHARE A PUPORTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH OPPOSING COUNSEL UNTIL THAT LAWYER IS CERTAIN THAT THE AGREEMENT WAS NOT FRAUDULENTY SECURED BY A THIRD PARTY.
II. A NINETY-ONE DAY SUSPENSION IS NOT WARRANTED WHEN A LAWYER DECIDES TO WAIT TO SHARE A PURPORTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH OPPOSING COUNSEL IN ORDER TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER THE AGREEMENT WAS TAINTED BY FRAUDULENT CONDUCT BY A THIRD PARTY
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Page(s)	<u>Cases</u>
The Bar v.Canto, 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996)	1.
<i>The Florida Bar v. Feinberg</i> , 760 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2000)	2.
The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski, 702 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1997) 11,20	3.
<i>The Bar v. Kelly</i> , 813 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1997)	4.
<i>The Bar v. Kravitz</i> , 694 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1997)	5.
<i>The Bar v.Maier</i> , 784 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2001)	6.
<i>The Bar v. Meyer</i> , 581 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 1991)	7.
<i>The Florida Bar v. Miller</i> , 863 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 2003)	8.
The Florida Bar v. Morrison, 669 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1996) 19	9.
. The Bar v. Nue, 597 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1992)	10.
. The Bar v. Nunes, 734 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1999)	11.
. The Bar v. Porter, 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996)	12.
. The Bar v. Shapiro, 413 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1982)	13.
. The Bar v. Thomas, 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997)	14.
. The Bar v. Wendel, 254 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1971)	15.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." David Samuel Nicnick, Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. __ or Resp. Ex.

<u>---</u>·

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This Bar Grievance action arises from a dispute between a mother, seeking child support for her children, and the father of her children, who had successfully avoided paying such support for multiple years. The Respondent, David Samuel Nicnick, represented the mother, Susan Cerny.

The core facts of this case are not in dispute and can be found in the parties'

Joint Pretrial Stipulation. The Referee, in his Report at pages 2 through 4, adopts
the following facts found in that stipulation:

- 1. The Respondent, David S. Nicnick, represented Susan Cerny in the case styled <u>Susan Carney v. Heinrich F. Buettner and Luise Buettner</u>, designated as Case Number 99-08110 (08) (hereinafter referred to as "the litigation").
- 2. Prior to the aforementioned lawsuit, the Respondent had represented Cerny for several years concerning Heinrich Beuttner's failure to pay child support. In the Susan Cerny v. Heinrich F. Buettner and Luise Buettner litigation, it was alleged that Heinrich Buettner had fraudulently transferred stock to his mother to avoid a child support obligation.
- 3. Respondent, David S. Nicnick, was the attorney of record for Cerny in the above referenced litigation from the filing of the lawsuit on May 11, 1999 through January 27, 2003, when he was replaced by another lawyer.

- 4. Luise Buettner retained the services of E.E. Jordan, Esquire, to defend her in the above referenced litigation and he represented Luise Buettner in the litigation from June 1, 1999, through until May 2, 2001, when his Motion to Withdraw was granted by the trial judge.
- 5. Respondent knew that attorney Jordan was representing Luise Buettner during the dates described in paragraph 4, above.
- 6. Prior to Mr. Jordan's withdrawal from the litigation, the Respondent prepared two documents concerning a potential settlement of the litigation. These documents were drafted at different times. The Respondent gave both of these documents to his client, Cerny, shortly after he had drafted same.
- 7. On or about February 17, 2001, or shortly thereafter, one of these documents, styled Compromise and Settlement Agreement, was returned to the Respondent with a signature attached thereto purporting to be Luise Buettner's signature.
- 8. The Respondent did not inform Jordan that he had prepared either of the aforementioned documents or that it appeared that Luise Buettner had executed the document styled Compromise and Settlement Agreement. The parties agreed that if called to testify, Jordan would have stated that, prior to his withdrawal from the litigation he had no knowledge of either of the aforementioned documents or that

his client had allegedly executed the document styled Compromise and Settlement Agreement.

- 9. Luise Buettner is deceased and was unavailable to testify in this case.
- 10. E. Howard Seidin, a Criminalist employed by the Broward County Sheriff's Office, if called to testify would have stated that he analyzed the signature on the document styled Compromise and Settlement Agreement and that, in his expert opinion, Luise Buettner did not sign the document and that he had no expert opinions as to who affixed Ms. Buettner's signature to this document.

The final hearing focused on the drafting and use of a document entitled Compromise and Settlement Agreement. See TFB Ex. 1. However, the Referee only found the Respondent guilty of certain rule violations relative to the Respondent's decision not to immediately share a copy of the Settlement Agreement with opposing counsel. In particular, the Referee found the Respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.3(a) and R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) when he gave the proposed settlement agreement to his client, Cerney, "with the understanding that it would be delivered to Luise Buettner for her consideration." RR14. T

As the Referee found the Respondent not guilty of the majority of the Bar's complaint and the Bar has not appealed such finding, the facts and potential rule violations relative to the not guilty findings will not be discussed herein.

The Respondent respectfully contends that these findings are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. Further, the Respondent, in this appeal, will demonstrate that the Referee's recommendation of a 91 day suspension from the practice of law is excessive and fails to follow this Court's precedent.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At issue in this case is whether a lawyer should be found guilty of unethical conduct when he drafts a proposed settlement agreement and shares same with his client, with the possibility that the proposed settlement agreement will be provided to the opposing client who is represented by legal counsel at that time. While the Respondent in this case could have been more careful in his handling of the situation, he did not intentionally engage in any dishonest or deceitful conduct. Nor did he actively conceal the existence of the proposed settlement agreement. It is the Respondent's position, and uncontroverted trial testimony, that he believed opposing counsel was fully aware that the respective parties were having settlement discussions amongst themselves and that he was truly surprised that the proposed agreement that he had drafted for his client's consideration came back signed by the other side.

A secondary but very significant issue is the sanction recommendation in this case. The Referee is recommending a ninety-one day suspension from the practice of law based upon his finding that the Respondent should have shared the proposed settlement agreement at the moment he gave same to his client. It is respectfully contended that the more appropriate sanction for what the Referee found is a public reprimand or at most a ten day suspension, based upon the lack of severity of the misconduct and the mitigation found in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. A LAWYER DOES NOT VIOLATE THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR BY WAITING TO SHARE A PUPORTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH OPPOSING COUNSEL UNTIL THAT LAWYER IS CERTAIN THAT THE AGREEMENT WAS NOT FRAUDULENTY SECURED BY A THIRD PARTY.

At issue in this appeal is whether a lawyer, should be found guilty of violating R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4 (c) [altering, destroying or concealing evidence] and 48.4(c) [engaging in dishonest, fraudulent or deceitful conduct], when that lawyer does not immediately disclose to opposing counsel the existence of a purported settlement agreement, when that lawyer is concerned that the settlement may have been fraudulently procured by a third party and the lawyer desires to determine if a fraud had been committed prior to sharing such document with opposing counsel. It is the Respondent's position that his delay in notifying opposing counsel was reasonable under the unique circumstances of this case and that his actions were not intended to "conceal evidence" or to engage in some form of dishonest or deceitful conduct. Rather, the Respondent contends that a prudent and ethical attorney needed to ascertain the bonifides of the settlement agreement prior to its use.

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact and guilt are presumed to be correct and the appealing party has the burden to demonstrate that these findings are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." *The Florida Bar v*.

Canto, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); The Florida Bar v. Porter, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996).

Only two witnesses testified at trial, but only one witness testified about the facts and circumstances related to the two rule violations found by the Referee and that witness was the Respondent.² A review of the relevant portions of the Respondent's testimony is therefore important for resolution of this case.

The Respondent testified that he began his representation of Susan Cerney sometime in 1996 to assist her in her efforts to collect on an outstanding judgment for child support. TT192. While there was a written retainer agreement, Ms. Cerney had not paid the Respondent any legal fees for three years of representation in the child support collection litigation. TT192. Collection efforts were difficult because Heinrich Buettner ("Heinrich"), the father of the children, had purposefully made himself unavailable and was virtually hiding from the obligation to support his children. TT194-196.

There came a point in time that Cerney and the Respondent discovered that there may have been a fraudulent transfer of Heinrich's assets to his mother, Luise Buettner ("Luise"). Accordingly, a lawsuit was filed in May of 1999, against

The other witness was Detective Randall Pelham, who testified on the matters that did not result in any rule violations. It is also important to note that the detective's testimony was highly discounted by the Referee. See footnote 4 of the Report of Referee.

Nor did the Respondent collect a legal fee for the fraudulent transfer action.

Luise and Heinrich alleging that Heinrich fraudulently transferred some of his assets into his mother's name to avoid paying his child support obligations. TT86. While Luise was served and appeared in the fraudulent transfer litigation, Heinrich avoided service and was not a participant in the litigation until well after the events at issue. TT194.

During the course of the litigation Cerny informed the Respondent that Luise had approached her through Luise's caretaker, Paul Edwards, seeking to settle the case. RR5. Cerney requested that the Respondent draft an outline of a settlement for her review. RR5. The Respondent drafted that document and gave it to Cerney. A little while later, Cerney told the Respondent that she had further RR5. discussions with Edwards and needed a new document with modifications to consider and the Respondent drafted this document also. RR5. As the Referee noted in his Report, the Respondent, at the time he gave the settlement agreement to his client, "had no expectation of this document ever being returned to him executed" by all parties. TT102-103; RR5.4 However, the parties, through a pretrial stipulation, agreed that on or about February 17, 2001, the Respondent came into possession of an executed version of the settlement agreement that he drafted. TT209-210.

-

In fact, the Respondent's actions in pushing the case along, inclusive of noticing the case for trial on February 5, 2001 support this finding. See RR 5-6.

On or about February 17, 2001, the Respondent traveled to his client's home, along with his partner, Gordon Schnap, Esquire, to meet with Paul Edwards, who by that time had been arrested and charged with allegedly stealing Luise Buettner's automobile. The purpose of such meeting was for Mr. Schnap⁵ to discuss potential representation of Edwards in the defense of this criminal charge. TT 198-200. Mr. Edwards decided not to retain Mr. Schnap, but did deliver to the Respondent the original executed version of the Settlement Agreement. TT209-210. The Referee found that the "uncontroverted testimony at trial was that the Respondent accepted possession of the agreement but made no inquiry of Edwards concerning the document or how it was executed." RR6.

The Referee in this case takes issue with the fact that the Respondent did not immediately share with opposing counsel the fact that he had given a proposed settlement agreement to his client "with the understanding that it would be delivered to Luise." RR13-14. It was the Referee's position that this failure coupled with a portion of the Respondent's testimony that "he did not want opposing counsel involved at that time" was a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar

The Respondent needed to drive Mr. Schnap to this meeting as Mr. Schnap is legally blind and unable to drive. TT200.

4-3.4(a)⁶ and 4-8.4(c). It is the Respondent's position that his testimony on this point was misunderstood and that he did not violate either rule.

Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a) states that a lawyer shall not "unlawfully obstruct another party's access to evidence or otherwise unlawfully alter, destroy or conceal a document" that is relevant to a pending proceeding. The second rule violation, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c) mandates that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. This rule requires a finding of intent. *The Florida Bar v. Nue*, 597 S0. 2d 17 (Fla. 1992). Both alleged violations are not well founded on the facts of this case or existing precedent relied upon by the Bar.

The Bar in urging the Referee to find a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a) and 48.4(c) advanced several cases that are inapposite to the facts of this case. For example, the lawyer in *The Florida Bar v. Miller*, 863 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 2003), was found guilty of these same two rules for hiding the fact that he had received a Right to Sue Notice earlier than he had disclosed. A similar result can be found in *The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski*, 702 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1997), wherein the lawyer failed to disclose that his client had the "missing" medical records. Lastly, in *The Florida Bar v. Myers*, 581 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 1991), the lawyer was

The Referee in cites to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a) in his ultimate recommendations on guilt, but incorrectly cites to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.3(a) in his discussion. See RR14.

found guilty of these same rule violations for setting a final hearing without notice to opposing counsel and then submitting a settlement agreement to the Court that was executed prior to that counsel being retained and which settlement had been disavowed by the other party.

In the first two cases the lawyer hid documents that were harmful to the lawyer's position in the case and in the last case the lawyer used a document that no longer had any viability without notifying opposing counsel. In the case at hand the alleged offending document helped the Respondent's position in the case and when he did use the document it was with full knowledge of the opposition.

It was the Respondent's uncontroverted testimony that he believed that opposing counsel knew of the settlement overtures and that Luise would have shared the settlement agreement, as well as the third party settlement discussions, with her counsel. TT206. In fact the Respondent's testimony was that he "expected Luise Buettner would be at least touching base with (her counsel) and let him know what was going on, as (his) client had done." TT206, 1.21-23. This is especially true when the settlement overtures between the clients had come from Luise and not the Respondent or his client, Cerny.

_

The Respondent also testified that it was not unusual in his line of work (family law) for the clients to work out some of the issues between them without counsel. TT202.

Once the executed settlement agreement came into his possession, the Respondent had a secondary issue that caused him not to immediately share this document with opposing counsel. ⁸ The issue that caused the Respondent to not immediately share the agreement was his concern about Edwards' character and a desire to make sure that Luise had in fact signed the document. ⁹ TT110; TT216. This concern was two fold but clearly based upon the warning signs about the honesty and veracity of Mr. Edwards. The first warning sign was that Edwards only produced the executed settlement agreement after he had been charged with stealing Luise's automobile. Further, after having personally met Edwards, the Respondent was not sure about his personal credibility. The Respondent testified that:

... what was troubling me was that up until he got arrested, I was only hearing good things about him. About how he took care of Luise, got her to the doctors and went grocery shopping for her, took her where she needed to go. Took care of, you know, her personal needs.

It was just difficult for me to understand how that person was the same person that supposedly stole her car and later I found out the allegations of credit card fraud. TT217, l. 13-23.

-

After Luise's lawyer withdrew, the Respondent did attempt to discuss the settlement agreement directly with Luise but Luise failed to attend mediation or the calendar call. Further, she failed to properly respond to a request for admissions that was directed to this agreement. RR7.

If Luise did not sign the document there was no settlement and the concern was that Edwards, if he was dishonest may have signed the document to exact some form of revenge on Luise for her filing the criminal complaint against him.

Shortly after the first meeting with Edwards another issue arose between Cerny and Edwards. The information that was relayed to the Respondent, through Cerny, was that Cerny had allowed Edwards to stay at her home after he had bailed out of jail as he had no place to stay, but that the same week that he had met Edwards at Cerny's home the police needed to be called to remove him from the home. TT218. This incident increased the Respondent's concern about Edwards' character. As such the Respondent wanted to see what developed with the criminal case prior to doing anything with the settlement document. Unfortunately, prior to there being any significant developments in the criminal case, Luise's lawyer filed a motion to withdraw from the litigation and that motion was granted on May 2, 2001.

It was the Respondent's testimony at trial that the litigation at issue was cordial between the respective attorneys but without much contact between counsel. TT235. Just prior to the Respondent's receipt of the settlement agreement, he had noticed the case for trial and the trial court's pretrial was executed on February 27, 2001. See TFB Ex. 2 & 3. Somewhere after the matter was set for trial Luise's counsel filed his motion to withdraw. Between the time the motion to withdraw was filed and granted, there was no communication between counsel and it is the Respondent's testimony that he did not discuss the settlement agreement with Luise's lawyer in this time frame, or at any time after he

had received the settlement agreement from Edwards. 10 The Referee does not make a specific finding that the failure to share the settlement agreement in executed form pending the outcome of the Respondent's investigation of Edwards' character and investigation into whether or not Luise had in fact signed the agreement was violative of the two rules set forth in his Report. Instead the Referee focused on the fact that the Respondent, upon giving a draft settlement agreement to his client with an "understanding" that it would be shared with Luise violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 43.4(a) and R. Regulating Fla. Bar 48.4(c). 11 However, in order for there to be a finding of violation on R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.4(a) there must be a finding that a lawyer unlawfully obstructed another party's access to evidence or otherwise unlawfully altered, destroyed or concealed a document that was relevant to a pending proceeding.¹² There are no issues of alteration or destruction and therefore the only issue is one of potential

The Respondent testified that had Jordan stayed in the case he would have ultimately shared the agreement with him prior to its use. TT106-108

One could argue that the more appropriate finding would have been a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-4.2 (communication with a represented party) but the Bar did not charge Respondent with this potential rule violation and the Referee specifically noted that he was not considering same. RR14. However, it could also be argued that there could not be a violation of this rule if Luise claimed she did not sign it and may never have seen it prior to it being attached to a request for admission. See TFB 7 & 8.

The Rules of Civil Procedure govern the sharing of evidence and the Respondent in this case did make disclosure of the document in question, prior to trial via a request for admissions.

concealment.¹³ However, there is no active concealment in that the Respondent's testimony was that (1) he believed Luise was having the same conversations with her lawyer that Cerny was having with him and (2) that the document he gave to his client would not come back signed but instead the lawyers would draw up a complete formal agreement if the respective parties were able to agree on the general terms.

The next question that must be asked was the decision not to share with opposing counsel a copy of the document the Respondent had given to his client is somehow dishonest, fraudulent or deceitful in violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c). As is noted above this is an intent rule and the Bar must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent, when he gave the settlement agreement to his client for her use, knowingly and intentionally gave the document to her in an effort to be dishonest with opposing counsel or his client, Luise. At most the Respondent was reckless in assuming that if Cerny gave the settlement agreement to Luise that Luise would share it with her legal counsel.

It is respectfully contended that the Bar failed to meet its burden of proof on either rule violation and that the Respondent should be found not guilty.

The Referee makes a finding that the Respondent did not want Jordan involved in the settlement process. RR14. This point is refuted by the Respondent's testimony that he believed Jordan already knew about Luise's settlement overtures through his own client and his direct testimony that he did expect Jordan to be involved with the settlement. See TT107-108.

II. A NINETY-ONE DAY SUSPENSION IS NOT WARRANTED WHEN A LAWYER DECIDES TO WAIT TO SHARE A PURPORTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH OPPOSING COUNSEL IN ORDER TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER THE AGREEMENT WAS TAINTED BY FRAUDULENT CONDUCT BY A THIRD PARTY.

This Court has consistently held that it has a broader discretion when reviewing a sanction recommendation because the responsibility to order an appropriate sanction ultimately rests with the Supreme Court. *The Florida Bar v. Thomas*, 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997). The Court should exercise its discretion in finding that the ninety-one day suspension recommended by the Referee is to harsh a sanction for a lawyer faced with an ethical dilemma and who chooses a course of conduct that he believed to be a prudent and ethical resolution of that dilemma, but which course of conduct has now been found to be the wrong resolution of that ethical dilemma.¹⁴

The Supreme Court in *The Florida Bar v. Kelly*, 813 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2002), stated that in selecting an appropriate discipline certain fundamental issues must be addressed. They are: (1) Fairness to both the public and the accused; (2) sufficient harshness in the sanction to punish the violation and encourage reformation; and (3) the severity must be appropriate to function as deterrent to others who might be tempted to engage in similar misconduct. Also see The Standards for Imposing

If the Court affirms the Referee on one or both potential rule violations and believes a disciplinary sanction is warranted, the Respondent takes no issue with the Referee's recommendation of ten hours of CLER ethics courses.

Lawyer Sanctions, Standard 1.1. The sanction proposed by the Referee does not meet these criteria.

In all cases it is important to discuss the mitigation and aggravation that is present in a case. The Referee found two aggravating factors and five mitigating factors. RR15. In particular the Referee found the following mitigating factors:

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