#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC06-290

Complainant,

V.

The Florida Bar File No. 2004-50,937(17J)

#### DAVID SAMUEL NICNICK,

Respondent.	
	/

### THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

JUAN CARLOS ARIAS Attorney No. 0076414 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN Attorney No. 200999 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Attorney No. 123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

At the final hearing, the bar provided testimony from a detective who investigated criminal wrongdoing relating to this case. The referee also heard the testimony of the respondent and concluded that respondent's conduct violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent now argues that he did not intentionally engage in any dishonest or deceitful conduct and that the referee's recommended discipline is excessive.

This Court has held a bar disciplinary action must serve 3 purposes: the judgment must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must sufficiently deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. Furthermore, the discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The recommendation by the referee in this case adheres to the purpose of lawyer discipline because it is fair to society, it is fair to respondent, and it would deter other attorneys from engaging in similar conduct. Given this respondent's intentional misconduct, the aggravating factors found by the referee, the discipline given in similar cases, and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the referee's recommendation is appropriate.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A LAWYER VIOLATES THE RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR BY KNOWINGLY OBTAINING A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FROM AN OPPOSING PARTY REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL AND BY CONCEALING THE PURPORTED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FROM THE OPPOSING PARTY'S COUNSEL

Respondent argues that he did not intentionally engage in any dishonest or deceitful conduct and that he did not actively conceal the existence of the proposed settlement agreement, therefore, the discipline recommended by the referee is excessive. The party contesting the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt, however, must demonstrate either a lack of record evidence to support such findings and conclusions, or that the evidence in the record clearly contradicts such findings and conclusions. The Florida Bar v. Feinberg, 760 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2000), quoting The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So. 2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998). A referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Canto, 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996); The Florida Bar v. Porter, 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996); The Florida Bar v. Forrester, 656 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1995), quoting The Florida Bar v. Marable, 645 So. 2d 438 (Fla. 1994). The referee is in the better position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses. See Sweeney, 730 So. 2d at 1271 (Fla. 1998).

Respondent contends that the referee's findings were clearly erroneous and lacking evidentiary support. In support, respondent argues in his Initial Brief that

his testimony at the final hearing was "misunderstood" by the referee. The referee,

however, made the following specific findings in his Report of Referee:

It is undisputed that the Respondent knew that Luise Buettner was represented by E.E. Jordan, Esquire. It is also undisputed that the Respondent prepared a settlement agreement he knew or should have known would be delivered to Luise Buettner for her consideration without sharing it with Mr. Jordan. The Respondent provided the following testimony during the final hearing:

Mr. Arias: You drafted that document; you wrote in those paragraphs; am I correct?

Respondent: Upon my client's instructions.

Mr. Arias: You wrote them?

Respondent: I put the words on the paper, yes.

Mr. Arias: So that's your document; you prepared the document; am I right?

Respondent: I prepared it under my client's instruction.

Mr. Arias: So you prepared the document? And again, no flag came up that that was going to be shown to the defendant in a civil action, in your mind, as you just testified?

Mr. Tynan: Objection. Was that a question, Your Honor, or a statement?

The Court: I think it was a question.

Respondent: I didn't hear it in a question. I thought it was a statement too. Can you repeat the question?

Mr. Arias: And again, no red flag came up at that point that you should have contacted Mr. Jordan?

Respondent: No.

Mr. Arias: Would it be fair to say that you obviously did not want Mr. Jordan to be involved in this settlement?

Respondent: Not at that time. I didn't think that was the time to bring it up.

Mr. Arias: Well, you actually never brought it up to Mr. Jordan; am I right?

Respondent: Not before he withdrew. He withdrew a couple of months later. [RR 11.]

The referee also made the following specific findings in his Report of Referee:

While the respondent did not have an obligation to reveal to opposing counsel that he had drafted an agreement, once he gave the agreement to his client with the understanding that it would be delivered to Luise Buettner for her consideration, he had an obligation to share it with opposing counsel. His failure to do so, given the aforesaid testimony that he did not want opposing counsel involved at the time, was a violation of Rule 4-3(a) [sic] and Rule 4-8(c). [RR 13.]

Furthermore, while respondent testified that he thought he was "somewhat" shielded from any ethical issue by allowing his client to execute the settlement agreement with the help of the opposing party's caretaker, Mr. Edwards, the following final hearing testimony from the respondent crystallizes the nature of his intentional conduct:

Mr. Arias: Did you think that by using a third party, you relinquish all responsibility for having contacts with a person that is represented by counsel?

Respondent: No. I didn't use a third party. I only dealt with my client.

Mr. Arias: Well, you knew that she was using Edwards?

Respondent: She was.

Mr. Arias: So that shields you from having any ethical issue in your mind?

Respondent: Somewhat.

Mr. Arias: What do you mean by somehow, somewhat?

Respondent: Somewhat. Well, it shields my somewhat. I'm only dealing with my client. I'm talking to my client. My client says, well, we're going to settle this thing; can you draft some kind of settlement agreement for me, because I don't have a computer? Okay. So I did. [TT 103.]

Respondent's testimony at the final hearing supports the referee's findings that respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation and that he concealed a document that he knew was relevant to a pending or a reasonably foreseeable proceeding. Considering that the referee refers to the respondent's own testimony at the final hearing to support his specific findings, the respondent's contentions that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support are without merit.

THE REFEREE PROPERLY RECOMMENDED A NINETY-ONE DAY SUSPENSION FOR RESPONDENT'S ETHICAL MISCONDUCT AND THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION IS SUPPORTED BY THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS AND EXISTING CASE LAW.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this Court held that 3 purposes must be held in mind when deciding the appropriate sanction for an

attorney's misconduct: 1) the judgment must be fair to society; 2) the judgment must be fair to the attorney; and 3) the judgment must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar conduct. This Court has further stated that a referee's recommended discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or the standards for imposing lawyer sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Lecznar, 690 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). The Court will not second—guess a referee's recommended discipline "as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law." The Florida Bar v. Laing, 695 So. 2d 299, 304 (Fla. 1997).

In addition, The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a reasonable basis for the referee's recommendation of a ninety-one day suspension for the respondent. First, Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 6.0 deals with the proper sanction for an attorney's violations involving duties owed to the legal system. Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 6.11(b) provides that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer improperly withholds material information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding. The respondent's intentional conduct of drafting settlement documents to be presented to the opposing party and his decision not to inform the opposing party's attorney of the negotiations or the final settlement agreement, is prejudicial to the administration of justice and involves dishonesty, fraud, and deceit for which respondent could

have been disbarred. The bar requested a 1 year suspension in this case.

When considering the discipline delineated in The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, any applicable mitigating or aggravating factor must be considered. It is also well settled that this "Court considers the respondent's previous history and increases the discipline where appropriate." Florida Bar v. Morrinson, 669 So. 2d 1040, 1042 (Fla. 1996). The referee, after a final hearing in the instant case, found in aggravation, pursuant to Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 9.22(a) and (b), a prior disciplinary offense and substantial experience in the practice of law. In mitigation, the referee found, pursuant to Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 9.32(b), (e), (g), (l), and (m), absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, full cooperation with the bar, otherwise good character and reputation, remorse, and remoteness of prior offense (2001).

There is authority to support the referee's recommendation that respondent be suspended for the violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 43.4(a) and 48.4(c). This Court held in The Florida Bar v. Hmielewski, 702 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1997), that an attorney who failed to disclose a material fact to a tribunal, unlawfully obstructed another party's access to evidence, and who engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, and deceit, warranted the imposition of a 3 year suspension. Although Hmielewski presents facts substantially more egregious than the case before us, at the core it deals with conduct by an attorney who undermines justice

by gaining the upper hand in litigation at all cost. As in <u>Hmielewski</u>, the present case is about an attorney making a mockery of the justice system when he deliberately participates in obtaining a settlement agreement from an opposing party without the knowledge of the opposing party's attorney and then intentionally concealing the executed settlement agreement from the opposing attorney. Further, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Myers</u>, 581 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that an attorney who failed to inform the tribunal of all material facts known, unlawfully obstructed another party's access to evidence, and who engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud and deceit, warranted a 90-day suspension and a 2 year probation period.

In this case, the referee's recommendation for a 91 day suspension is clearly not excessive considering the respondent's prior discipline and this Court's precedent. Therefore, the Court should rely on the referee's recommendation for discipline and adopt his recommendation for a 91 day rehabilitative suspension. The referee properly weighed the testimony and evidence presented at the final hearing and had a reasonable basis in existing case law and The Florida Standards Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should approve all the findings of fact and conclusions of guilt within the referee's report and adopt the referee's recommendation of discipline. Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof or to provide any specific relevant evidence within the final hearing transcripts or any other evidence introduced at the referee level that calls into question the referee's findings and recommended discipline in this case.

The recommendation of a 91 day suspension, completion of a minimum of 10 hours in ethics Continuing Legal Education (CLE) courses within six 6 months of the date of Florida Supreme Court's approval of the findings and recommendations, and payment of all costs in the matter, is consistent with existing case law and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.